IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,607

SEP 18 100 CLERK, SUPREMA COURT By_____ Deputy Clerk

vs 🛛

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

ROY KENNETH FINNEY,

Respondent.

* * * * * * * * * * *

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

*

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JANET RENO State Attorney Eleventh Judicial Circuit

PENNY H. BRILL Assistant State Attorney 1351 Northwest 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 Florida Bar #305073 Telephone #: (305) 547-7093

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellant on appeal. The respondent, Roy Kenneth Finney, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court. The symbol "R" will be used to designate portions of the record on appeal. The symbol "T" will be used to designate portions of the transcript of the proceedings below. (1) The symbol "A" followed by a number will constitute a page reference to the appendix being filed by petitioner along with this brief. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

⁽¹⁾ The original transcript containing the argument by counsel to the trial court was replete with errors. The Third District granted the petitioner's motion to correct the record on appeal, and accepted the certified corrected portions of the transcript.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 23, 1978, the respondent was charged by amended information no. 78-3254, with four counts of robbery with a firearm in violation of Section 812.13, Florida Statutes (1977), one count of attempted robbery with a firearm, in violation of Sections 812.13 and 777.04(1), Florida Statutes (1977), and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense, to wit: robbery, in violation of Section 790.07, Florida Statutes (1977). (R. 3-6A.) After a trial by jury, the respondent was convicted of three counts of robbery with a firearm, one count of attempted robbery with a firearm, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. (R. 9.) The respondent was sentenced to life imprisonment on the three counts of robbery with a firearm, fifteen (15) years on the count of attempted robbery with a firearm, and five (5) years on the count of unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. All sentences were to run concurrently.

On May 22, 1984, the respondent filed his first motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was summarily denied on October 26, 1984. (R. 10); (T. 99-100.) On January 6, 1985, the respondent filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Third District granted the petition and the respondent was permitted to file a belated direct appeal. (R. 10.); (T. 101). The respondent also appealed the denial of his motion for post-conviction relief. On

(2)

February 17, 1987, the Third District affirmed the respondent's convictions and sentences, as well as the denial of the motion for post-conviction relief. <u>Finney v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 519 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). (R. 10.)

On March 23, 1988, the respondent filed his second motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was denied without prejudice on April 12, 1988. (R. 8.) On April 27, 1988, the respondent filed his third motion for post-conviction relief, He raised two grounds, 1) that he was denied effective assistance of counsel, and 2) that his conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm during the commission of **a** felony was illegal. (R. 29-48.)

On December 20, 1988, an evidentiary hearing was held on the respondent's motion for post-conviction relief. The trial court recessed the hearing in the middle of the testimony of the respondent's original trial counsel. (T. 116.) The trial court then considered the issue of the validity of the respondent's conviction for the unlawful possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (T. 121-126.) The petitioner argued (Fla. 1988), was that Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 678 not retroactive and did not apply to motions for post-conviction relief, citing Harris v. State, 520 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), review denied, 536 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1988), and Love v. <u>State</u>, 532 So,2d 1133 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). (T. 121-123.) The trial court agreed with and felt it was bound by the Third District's opinion in Henderson v. State, 526 So.2d 743 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), in which the Third District reversed a summary denial

(3)

of a motion for post-conviction relief and on the basis of <u>Hall v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, and vacated the defendant's conviction for possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony. The trial court then granted the respondent's motion for post-conviction relief in part by vacating the respondent's conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. (T. 124.) On January 4, 1989, the trial court rendered its written order granting the motion for post-conviction relief in part. (R. 50.) On January 6, 1989, the petitioner filed its notice of appeal. (R. 51.)

On August 1, 1989, the Third District Court of Appeal filed its opinion affirming the trial court's order, but certified that its holding that <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Hall v. State</u>, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), apply retroactively in post-conviction proceedings, was in conflict with the decisions in <u>Love v. State</u>, 532 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), and <u>Harris v. State</u>, 520 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). (A. 1-2.) The petitioner timely commenced this proceeding on August 15, 1989, by filing a Notice of Intention to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court. On August 24, 1989, this Court issued its briefing schedule for the briefs on the merits.

(4)

QUESTION PRESENTED

.

WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER GRANTING THE DEFENDANT ' S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF IN PART BY VACATING THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION FOR THE UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY, WHERE Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case applied <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Hall v. State</u>, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), retroactively to the respondent's motion for post-conviction relief. This Court's decisions in <u>Carawan</u> and <u>Hall</u> are evolutionary refinements in the law and do not represent a major constitutional change that is required for retroactive application under <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1988). Furthermore, the petitioner submits that <u>Hall v. State</u>, supra, should be reconsidered as it misapplied <u>Carawan</u>, in that it effectively repealed Section 790.07(2), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, where there was no indication of legislative intent to do so.

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED ΤN AFFIRMING THE TRTAL COURT'S ORDER GRANTING THE DEFENDANT 'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF IN PART BY VACATING THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION FOR THE UNLAWFUL POSSESSION OF A FIREARM DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY, WHERE <u>Hall v. State</u>, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

The issue before this Court is simply whether Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), which holds that a defendant cannot be convicted for both armed robbery and possession of a firearm while committing that robbery, is to be applied retroactively to cases in which the issue is raised for the first time in a motion for post-conviction relief. The Third District in the instant case applied this Court's decisions in Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), retroactively to the respondent's motion for post-conviction relief, thereby vacating the respondent's conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony. (A. 1-2); State v. Finney, So.2d ____, 14 F.L.W. 1811 (Fla, 3d DCA August 1, 1989). See also Pastor v. State, 536 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), review granted, Case No. 73,780 (Fla. June 6, 1989); Henderson v. State, 526 So.2d 743 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). The petitioner recognizes that the Second District Court of Appeal has also held Carawan and

<u>Hall</u> to be retroactive to post-conviction motions. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Merckle v. State</u>, 541 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 74,106 (Fla. June 30, 1989); <u>Jenson v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 540 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 73,828 (Fla. June 5, 1989); <u>Glenn v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), <u>review</u> <u>granted</u>, Case No. 73,496 (Fla. May 3, 1989).

However, contrary to the holdings of the Second and Third Districts, the First District Court of Appeal in Harris v. State, 520 So,2d 639 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), review denied 536 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1988), held that there was nothing discernible in Hall v. State, supra, which would make those decisions apply retroactively or to constitute fundamental error under the reasoning in Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980). 520 So.2d The Fourth District, in Love v. State, 532 So.2d 1133 at 640. (Fla, 4th DCA 1988), review granted, Case No. 73,401 (Fla, Mar. 17, 1989), likewise held that <u>Hall</u> was not retroactive and refused to apply the case upon the defendant's appeal from resentencing. In addition, the Fifth District in <u>Clark v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 519 (Fla, 5th DCA 1988), held that Carawan v. State, supra, did not apply retroactively to a petition for writ of habeas corpus alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. Thus, as the Third District recognized and certified in the instant case, there exists a conflict among the district courts of appeal on this issue which must be definitively resolved by this Court.

In <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla, 1980), this Court recognized the importance of finality in the criminal justice

(8)

system, in that the "absence of finality casts a cloud of tentativeness over the criminal justice system, benefiting neither the person convicted nor society as a whole." <u>Id</u>. at **925.** Thus, this Court held that the post-conviction relief procedures as offered by Rule **3.850** of the <u>Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure</u> allow a defendant to challenge a once final judgment and sentence only in limited instances, and for limited reasons. <u>Id</u>. Those limited circumstances which are cognizable under Rule **3.850** are those which constitute "<u>major</u> constitutional changes in the law." <u>Id</u>. at **929.** (Emphasis original.)

Most major consitutional changes in the law are either (1) those changes which place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties, i.e., <u>Coker v. Georgia</u>, **433** U.S. **584** (1977), which prohibited the imposition of the death penalty for the crime of rape; or (2) those changes which meet the three prong test for retroactivity as set forth in <u>Stovall v. Denno</u>, **388** U.S. **293**, **297** (1967), i.e., (a) the purpose to be served by the new rule, (b) the extent of reliance on the old rule, and (c) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new rule. **387** So.2d at **929**. This Court in <u>Witt</u> then went on to state:

> these In contrast to jurisprudential upheavals are evolutionary refinements in the law, affording criminal new or different standards for the admissibility of evidence, for procedural fairness, for proportionality review of capital cases, and for other like matters. Emergent rights in these

> > (9)

categories, or the retraction of former rights of this genre, do not an abridgement compel of the finality of judgments. To allow them that impact would, we are convinced, destroy the stability of the render punishments law, uncertain and therefore ineffectual, and burden the judicial machinery of our state, fiscally and intellectually, beyond any tolerable limit.

Id. at 929-30 (footnote omitted.)

The petitioner submits that in applying the principles of Witt, this Court must conclude that the decision in Carawan v. State, supra, and its progeny, Hall v. State, supra, were evolutionary refinements of the law and not ones which should have retroactive application. In McCuiston v. State, 534 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 1988), this Court held that its decision in Whitehead v. State, 498 So,2d 863 (Fla. 1986), holding that finding a defendant to be an habitual offender was not a legally sufficient reason for departing from the recommendation of the sentencing guidelines, was not to be applied retroactively to motions for post-conviction relief. This Court held that Whitehead was an evolutionary refinement of the law because of the conflicting decisions of the district courts of appeal as to for departing from what constituted proper reasons the guidelines. 534 So.2d at 1146.

Like <u>Whitehead</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Carawan</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Hall</u>, <u>supra</u>, reflect the same kind of evolutionary refinement of the law. In <u>Carawan</u>, this Court recognized that in double jeopardy cases, prior decisions of this Court attempting to divine the

(10)

legislative intent behind penal statutes was confusing. 515 So.2d at 163. In fact, this Court accepted jurisdiction in Carawan "to elaborate the constitutional and statutory rationale upon which our prior decisions [were] grounded." Id. Similarly in Hall, supra, this Court noted the development of analysis from the strict Blockburger⁽²⁾ test applied in <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 452 So.2d 533 (Fla, 1984), to a broader analysis of legislative intent applied in Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985); Houser v. State, 474 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1985), and State v. Boivin, 487 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 1986). 517 So.2d at 679. Thus, the decisions in Carawan and Hall are simply evolutionary developments in the law.

Furthermore, in determining whether Carawan and Hall should be applied retroactively, this Court should consider the three prong test of Stovall v. Denno, supra. While the purpose behind the rule of construction announced in Carawan is to prevent perceived double jeopardy violations for crimes occurring out of a single act, that purpose has been significantly diluted by the legislature's recent amendment to Section 775.021, Florida Statutes (1988), which not only served to clarify its intention to allow separate convictions for the respondent's crimes, but also to override <u>Carawan</u>. <u>See State v. Smith</u>, So.2d _, 14 308 (Fla, June 22, 1989). As to the remaining two prongs F.L.W. of Stovall, clearly there was great reliance on the prior interpretation of Section 775.021 as delineated in State v.

^{(2) &}lt;u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

Gibson, supra. Furthermore, a retroactive application of Carawan and Hall in post-conviction motions would have a detrimental effect on the administration of justice. As noted by Justice Shaw in his concurring and dissenting opinion in State v. Smith, supra, there have "already been numerous, and will no doubt be many more, petitions for post-conviction relief granted on Carawan." 14 F.L.W. at 310. These petitions put a great strain on an already overwhelmed judicial system. Thus, for these reasons this Court should not apply Carawan and Hall retroactively to post-conviction motions.

The petitioner would further submit that this Court Hall, particularly in should reconsider Carawan and its determination of legislative intent. In Hall, this Court held that it was unreasonable to presume that the legislature intended to double the enhancement of the crime of robbery committed while carrying a firearm, under both Sections 812.13(1) and (2)(a), Statutes, and Section 790.07(2), Florida Florida Statutes (carrying a firearm while committing a felony). 517 So.2d at 680. However, what this Court failed to consider in Hall and the district courts in their interpretation of <u>Hall</u>⁽³⁾ is that these decisions had effectively repealed Section 790.07(2) for all cases except first degree murder ⁽⁴⁾ because first degree murder

(3) <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>McKinnon v. State</u>, 523 So,2d 1238 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988),

(4) However, the Third District in <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 543 So.2d 386 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), incorrectly applied <u>Carawan</u> to dual convictions for first degree murder with a firearm and unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense.

(12)

cannot be reclassified under Section 775.087(1)(b), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>. This is because under <u>Hall</u> once a defendant is convicted of the felony, he cannot also be convicted under Section 790.07(2), and if a defendant is acquitted of the felony, then he also must be acquitted of the charges under Section 790.07(2). <u>See Redondo v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1981). (5) It is absurd to believe that the legislature intended to repeal Section 790.07(2), except for first degree murder where the penalty is death or life imprisonment. Rather, it is clear that the legislature intended that a defendant who uses a firearm to commit a felony receive separate punishments for the crimes.(6)

(6) In addition, the petitioner submits that this Court should reconsider its application of Carawan's rule of lenity as it determines whether the two statutory provisions manifestly address the same evil. In <u>State v. Crumley</u>, 512 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that a defendant could not be separately convicted for the offenses of aggravated battery and battery on enforcement officers because statutes law the were both enhancements of battery and thus did not address separate evils. What this Court overlooked is that each enhancement represented a different evil, i.e., protection of law enforcement officers, and to punish one for using a deadly weapon. Under Crumley, the conviction for battery of a law enforcement officer would be vacated, and the defendant would be treated in the same manner as anyone who commits an aggravated battery on any person. The law enforcement officer loses the protection that the legislature clearly intended for him to receive.

(FOOTNOTE CONTINUED)

^{(&}quot;Except in cases where it is possible due to jury instructions for the jury to find the defendant not guilty of the complete felony but could have found him guilty of an attempt. <u>See</u> <u>Pitts v. State</u>, **425** So.2d 542 (Fla. 1983).

Thus, the petitioner submits that this Court should hold that Carawan and Hall are not to be applied retroactively to It is clear that Carawan post-conviction motions. was а misinterpretation of the legislature's intent, an interpretation which was promptly corrected by amending Section 775.021. This Court should not compound the problem and give relief to persons whose conviction and sentences were clearly permissible and legal at the time they were entered and which would be permissible This Court should reverse the Third District Court's today. opinion in the instant case, and affirm the holdings of Harris v. State, supra, and Love v. State, supra.

(FOOTNOTE (6) CONTINUED)

Similarly, the district courts have not always properly applied <u>Carawan's</u> rule of lenity. For example, in <u>Adams v.</u> State, So. 2d ___, 14 F.L.W. 1895 (Fla. 5th DCA August 10, 1989), the Court held that a defendant could not be convicted for both burglary with a battery and aggravated battery. That decision treats a person who commits a burglary and simply hits a person within the structure in the same manner as a person who commits a burglary and uses a deadly weapon to strike the person. Again, the legislature's desire to deter someone from using a deadly weapon is for naught. See also Rivera v. State, 1 14 F.L.W. 1021 (Fla. 4th DCA April 26, 1989), where court held that the defendant could not be convicted for both attempted first degree murder and aggravated child abuse. This decision is in direct conflict with Carawan itself which reaffirmed this Court's prior holding in <u>Scott v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1984), upholding dual convictions for manslaughter and child abuse. 515 So,2d at 169.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petitioner submits that the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion affirming the trial court's order granting in part the respondent's motion for postconviction relief and vacating the respondent's conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony should be reversed by this Court and the case remanded for further proceedings.