IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,607

FILED SID J. WHITE

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

OCT 2 1980

Petitioner,

-vs-

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ROY KENNETH FINNEY,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW, CONFLICT JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
THIRD DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1351 N.W. 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-3010

MARTI ROTHENBERG Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 320285

Counsel for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

This is the answer brief on the merits by the defendant Roy Finney in this conflict review of the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal which affirmed the granting of the defendant's motion for post conviction relief reversing the defendant's conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony.

Citations to the record are abbreviated as follows:

- (R) Clerk's Record on Appeal
- (T) Transcript of Proceedings
- (A) Appendix attached hereto

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant accepts the state's Statement of the Case and Facts in the initial brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The defendant submits the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal is correct and should be approved by this Court. The Third District's opinion holds that under this Court's decisions in Hall v. State, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), and Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), the defendant's conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony should be reversed. Under the principles of Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied 449
U.S. 1067, 101 S.Ct. 796, 66 L.Ed.2d 612 (1980), regarding whether a judicial decision announcing a change in the law is to be applied retroactively, the decisions in Hall and Carawan should be given retroactive application to motions for post conviction relief.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL VACATING THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCE FOR POSSESSION OF A FIREARM IN THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY IS CORRECT AND SHOULD BE APPROVED BY THIS COURT WHERE THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN HALL AND CARAWAN SHOULD BE GIVEN RETROACTIVE APPLICATION TO MOTIONS FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF.

As the state correctly notes in its initial brief, the issue before this Court concerns the retroactive application of <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Hall v. State</u>, 517 So.2d 678 (Fla. 1988), holding that a defendant may not be convicted for both armed robbery and possession of a firearm in the commission of that robbery, to cases which were already final at the time of those decisions and in which the issue is raised for the first time in a motion for post conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P.

In <u>Witt v. State</u>, 307 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u>
449 U.S. 1067, 101 S.Ct. 796, 66 L.Ed.2d 612 (1980), this Court
set forth the applicable standard in determining whether a
judicial decision announcing a change in the law is to be applied
retroactively in a claim for post conviction relief. This Court
held that to be cognizable under Rule 3.850, a change in the
decisional law must emanate from either this Court or the United
States Supreme Court, must be constitutional in nature, and must
constitute a development of fundamental significance rather than
an evolutionary refinement of the law. <u>Id.</u>, at 931. This Court
observed that most major constitutional changes in the law are
either those which place beyond the authority of the state the

power to regulate certain conduct or to impose certain penalties, or those which are of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the principles of Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed2d 1199 (1967), and Linkletter v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618, 85 S.Ct. 1731, 14 L.Ed.2d 601 (1965). Ld., at 929, 931. This Court emphasized that only major constitutional changes of law will entitle a defendant to collateral relief. Ld., at 929. See also McCuiston v. State, 534 So.2d 1144, 1146 (Fla. 1988); Williams v. State, 421 So.2d 512, 514 (Fla. 1982).

Applying these principles to the present case, it is evident that this Court's decisions in <u>Carawan</u> and <u>Hall</u> involve a major constitutional development of fundamental importance and not a mere evolutionary refinement of law. Under these two decisions, dual convictions and sentences for both armed robbery and possession of a firearm in the commission of that robbery are impermissible and cause the defendant to be incarcerated for a greater length of time than the law permits. As such, they are of fundamental significance and their purpose is to address these fundamental sentencing and conviction errors. It has long been held that fundamental sentencing errors that could cause the defendant to be incarcerated for a greater length of time than the law permits may be challenged in a motion for post conviction relief under Rule 3.850. Bass v. State, 530 So.2d 282 (Fla.

The three considerations set forth in <u>Stovall</u> and <u>Linkletter</u> are (1) the purpose to be served by the new rule, (2) the extent of reliance on the old rule, and (3) the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of the new rule. <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So.2d 922, 926 (Fla. 1980).

1988); Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988);

Dowdell v. State, 500 So.2d 594, 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Kraus

v. State, 491 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Cisnero v. State,

458 So.2d 377 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Hamm v. State, 380 So.2d 1101

(Fla. 2d DCA 1980); see also Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Crim.P. The impact of a change in sentencing law such as this is so direct and fundamental it simply cannot be deemed to be a mere evolutionary development of law. ²

Both the Third District and the Second District have held

The issue presented here can be compared to cases holding that changes in decisional law were merely an evolutionary refinement of the law not requiring retroactive application. Such cases generally involve changes in matters regarding the admission of evidence, Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9, 18 (Fla. 1985); Williams v. State, 421 So.2d 512, 515 (Fla. 1982), admission of statements following denial of right to counsel, Henderson v. Dugger, 522 So.2d 835, 837 (Fla. 1988), admission of statements made to psychiatrist in sentencing proceeding, Alvord v. State, 396 So.2d 184, 191 (Fla. 1981), improper peremptory challenges of blacks from the jury, State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481, 488 (Fla. 1984), absence of defendant when court responded to requests from jury, Morris v. State, 422 So.2d 338, 340 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), procedure regarding appointment of experts to examine defendant, Clark v. State, 460 So.2d 886, 889 (Fla. 1984), jury instructions, State v. Austin, 532 So.2d 19, 21 (Fla. 5th-DCA 1988), and reasons for departure from the sentencing guidelines, McCuiston v. State, 534 So.2d 1144 (Fla. 1988) -(decision in Whitehead proscribing departure based on habitual offender not retroactive).

The state relies on the guidelines cases in support of its position that Hall was an evolutionary refinement of law and not retroactive. (Petitioner's brief, pg. 10) The guidelines cases are very different from the present case, however, because this case involves a fundamental sentencing consideration directly impinging on the defendant's immediate length of incarceration, whereas the guidelines cases merely involve reasons for departure that may enter into the judge's discretion in imposing a sentence. See Tafero v. State, 459 So.2d 1034, 1035 (Fla. 1984) (change of law regarding propriety of death sentence under Enmund cognizable in post conviction relief). Moreover, as this Court noted in McCuiston v. State, supra at 1146, guidelines departure reasons were an entirely new and unsettled area of law that is still in the process of refinement.

that a defendant may challenge a finalized conviction and sentence under Carawan and Hall by way of a motion for post conviction relief. Pastor v. State, 536 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), review granted, Case No: 73,780; Henderson v. State, 526 So.2d 743 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Etlinger v. State, 538 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Jensen v. State, 538 So.2d 540 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), review granted, Case No: 73,828; Merckle v. State, 541 So.2d 1312 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), review granted, Case No: 74,106; Spadaro v. State, 539 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Glenn v. State, 537 So.2d 611 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), review granted, Case No: 73,496; Gonzalez-Osorio v. State, 535 So.2d 644 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Although the First District and the Fourth District have held that Hall is not retroactive because they "do not discern anything in Hall that would make that decision retroactively or provide that such dual convictions now constitute fundamental error under the reasoning in Witt v. State, " Harris v. State, 520 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), review denied, 536 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1988); Love v. State, 532 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), review granted, Case No: 73,401; Clark v. State, 530 So.2d 519 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), the defendant submits those decisions were incorrectly decided and should be disapproved by this Court.

This Court stated in <u>Witt</u> that the question of whether to retroactively apply a change in the law in a claim for post conviction relief requires resolution of the "conflict between two important goals of the criminal justice system - ensuring finalty of decisions on the one hand, and ensuring fairness and

uniformity in individual cases on the other - within the context of post conviction relief . . " 387 So.2d at 924-925. present case, resolution of this conflict must be to ensure fairness and uniformity. To not permit retroactive application of Carawan and Hall would allow the conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm under identical circumstances to be determined by the status of a defendant's appeal at the time of issuance of those decisions. As this Court stated in Bass v. State, 530 So.2d 282 (Fla. 1988), with respect to the retroactive application of stacked mandatory minimum sentences in Palmer, "it would be manifestly unfair for prisoners such as Bass, who received consecutive minimum mandatory sentences prior to Palmer, to be treated differently from those who had the good fortune of being sentenced for similar conduct after that decision was rendered.'' See also Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 332, 333 (Fla. 1st 1988) (interests of fairness and uniformity require DCA retroactive application of changes in law regarding applicable guidelines scoresheet because otherwise permissible sentence under the quidelines would be determined by the status of the defendant's trial).'

With respect to the other two considerations of Stovall, it should be noted that the effect on the administration of justice of a retroactive application of Hall and Carawan is negligible and would not unduly burden the courts since the lower courts need only vacate the conviction and sentence for the possession of the firearm count. See Brown v. State, 535 So.2d 332, 333 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (retroactive application of Miller regarding amended guidelines will place no undue burden on courts to resentence using proper guidelines scoresheet); compare Williams v. State, 421 So.2d 512, 515 (Fla. 1982) (retroactive application of Sarmiento excluding evidence illegally seized prior to the decision would increase burden of administration of justice by requiring hearings and by running the risk of having destroyed (Cont'd)

In sum, this Court's decisions in <u>Hall</u> and <u>Carawan</u> are of fundamental significance and it would be manifestly unfair to not permit post conviction relief based on those decisions. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in this case is correct and the lower court's order vacating the defendant's conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm in the commission of the robbery should be approved.

evidence, unavailable witnesses and dimmed memories).

Moreover the reliance on the old rule is

Moreoever, the reliance on the old rule is of little significance since the remedy of merely vacating the conviction and sentence is so efficient. Compare Williams v. State, supra at 515 (significant reliance placed on pre-Sarmiento law by police in obtaining warrantless, electronic communications of defendants).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the defendant respectfully requests this Court to approve the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal and to remand the case with directions to vacate the defendant's conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm in the commission of a felony.